# **RECEIVED**

10-09-2017

# CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT I

CASE NOS. 2017AP000958, 000959, 000960, and 000961CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRIAN A. BARWICK,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal From Decision and Final Order Denying Post-Conviction Motions Entered May 8, 2017, Milwaukee County Circuit Court Judge Michelle A. Havas, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

James A. Walrath
State Bar No. 1012151
LAW OFFICES OF JAMES A.
WALRATH, LLC.
324 East Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1410
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202
(414) 202-2300

# **

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. Did the Lack of Evidence in Case No. 14CM4275, That Brian Barwick Used 'Obscenity" or "Profanity" in an Email Message, Invalidate His Conviction for "Computer Message-Threaten/Obscenity?"

The circuit court denied Barwick's postconviction motion (R. 31 in Appeal No. 2017AP000958)on this issue, and ruled that the email was profane, and perhaps obscene (A. App. 108).

II. Did the Lack of a Prohibition on the Use of Computers in Brian Barwick's Appearance Bond in Case No. 15CF4127 Invalidate His Three Convictions for Bail Jumping?

The circuit court denied Barwick's postconviction motion (R. 30, Appeal No. 2017AP000961) on this issue, and ruled that the omission of an express prohibition on computer use in the written appearance bond was irrelevant because the court had set an oral condition of release that prohibited computer use (A. App. 108-09).

III. Did the Lack of Evidence in Case Nos. 15CF1521 and 15CF3082 That Brian Barwick Engaged in a "Physical Act" of Domestic Abuse, Invalidate His Seven Convictions for Domestic Abuse Incidents?

The circuit court denied Barwick's postconviction motion (R. 51, Appeal No. 2017AP000959 and R. 36, Appeal No. 2017AP000960) on this issue, and ruled that because Barwick "sent" messages, he necessarily

committed a "physical act," a concept which the jury instructions did not need to define. (A. App. 109-10).

IV. Were Search Warrants for Yahoo, Google, Facebook, and AOL Message Records That Were Used to Connect Barwick's IP Address to the Subject Emails Invalid Because Probable Cause was not Shown That That the Messages Were Illegal and Because Jurisdictional Facts Were Not Alleged to Support the Warrants?

The circuit court denied Barwick's postconviction motions (R. 31 in Appeal No. 2017AP000958), (R. 51, Appeal No. 2017AP000959), (R. 36, Appeal No. 2017AP000960) (R. 30, Appeal No. 2017AP000961) on these issues and found that the search warrant affidavits were sufficient (A. App. 106-07).

V. Did Defects in the Search Warrant Proceedings Directed to Barwick's Living Quarters, and the Seizure of Items Beyond the Scope of the Warrant, Lead to the Introduction of Inadmissible Evidence in the Bail Jumping Case, No. 15CF4127?

The circuit court denied Barwick's postconviction motion (R. 30, Appeal No. 2017AP000961) on these issues, and found that the search warrant affidavits were sufficient (A. App. 106-07), and that it had previously ruled on pretrial motions that the scope of the search was proper (A. App. 105; R. 44, pp.16-20).

VI. Was Barwick Was Denied His Constitutional Right to Present a Defense in the Bail Jumping Case No. 15CF4127, When He Was Not Allowed to Testify to Facts and Phenomena Known to Him About His Computer That Were Relevant to Whether Emails Had Been Sent by Another Party?

The circuit court denied Barwick's postconviction motion (R. 30, Appeal No. 2017AP000961), finding that it had previously ruled on pretrial motions that defendant's testimony would have been speculative and lacking supportive proof from an expert witness (A. App. 105-06; R. 42, pp.5-8; R. 43, pp. 8-9, 38-47).

VII. Did Barwick Demonstrate Adequate Grounds to Support Both His Motion Sever the Cases for Trial and His Motions *In Limine* to Exclude Unduly Prejudicial and Inflammatory Evidence That Was Not Common to All Cases?

The circuit court denied Barwick's postconviction motions (R. 31 in Appeal No. 2017AP000958; R. 51, Appeal No. 2017AP000959; and R. 36, Appeal No. 2017AP000960; R. 30, Appeal No. 2017AP000961), finding that in Case No. 14CM4275 defense counsel had withdrawn his severance motion (A. App. 104), that defense counsel was not ineffective for having done so because it was not prejudicial (A. App. 105), that in Case No. 15CF004127 defense counsel was not ineffective for not seeking a severance because it was not prejudicial (A. App. 106), and that it had previously denied defense motions *in limine* (A. App. 105; R. 43, pp. 8-9, 15).

VIII. Did the Circuit Court Err by Not Conducting a *Machner* Hearing to Determine Whether There Were Strategic Reasons For Defense Counsel's Waiver of Objections or For Not Raising Issues Related to the Inadmissible Evidence, to the Lack of Proof of Barwick's Use of Profanity, Lack of an Appearance

Bond Prohibition on His Computer Use, and the Lack of a "Physical Act" Threatening His Ex-Wife?"

The circuit court denied each of Barwick's post-convictions motions raising the *Machner* issue, finding none of counsel's errors, if any, were prejudicial to Barwick's defense. (A. App. 105-06).

IX. As to Those Issues, Stated Above Regarding the Insufficiency of the State's Evidence, the Severance Issues, and the Admission of Inadmissible Evidence, That Barwick's Trial Counsel Did Not Raise, Was It Plain Error for The Trial Court to Deny Barwick Directed Verdicts of Acquittal or New Trials?

The circuit court denied Barwick's plain error objections in his postconviction motions (A. App. 110), and included a finding that he was not prejudiced by counsel's not seeking severances of either Case No. 14CM4275 or Case No. 15CF4157 from the other cases for trial (A. App. 105-06).

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is appropriate in this case to the extent that Barwick's arguments do not fall under Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.22(2)(a); however, the briefs will likely fully develop the theories and legal authorities so that oral argument would be of marginal value.

Publication is appropriate under Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.23(a)(1) and (2) because resolution of the issues will likely clarify existing rules and apply those rules to facts significantly different from those in published opinions.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

Following a jury trial in March 2016 at which Brian Barwick was found guilty of a misdemeanor and various felony offenses related to emails sent to his ex-wife and the guardian ad litem in their child custody case, and to a woman acquaintance, Milwaukee County Circuit Judge Michelle A. Havas entered judgments of conviction and imposed sentences on June 23, 2016 as follows:

In Case No.14CM4275, which charged one count of sending an obscene, lewd, or profane email to Attorney K. D. on October 6, 2014, Barwick was sentenced to serve 90 days in the House of Correction concurrent to sentences for counts 3 and 4 and consecutive to sentences for counts 1 and 2 in Case No. 15CF1521.

In Case No. 15CF1521, which charged violations of a domestic abuse injunction by sending two emails to his exwife, once on October 2, 2014 and once on October 5, 2014 (Counts 1 and 3) and by sending the same emails while concealing his identity (Counts 2 and 4), Barwick was sentenced on Count 1 to two years imprisonment concurrent to Count 2; on Count 2 to two years imprisonment concurrent to Count 1; on Count 3 to two years imprisonment concurrent to Count 4, but consecutive to Counts 1 and 2; and on Count 4 to two years imprisonment concurrent to Count 3, but consecutive to Counts 1 and 2. The sentence on each count

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The remaining portions of the brief will refer to the four cases on appeal by their circuit court case numbers, Case Nos. 14CM4275, 15CF1521, 15CF3082 and 15CF 4127, which correspond to Appeal Nos. 2017AP000958, 2017AP000959, 2017AP000960, and 2017AP000961, respectively.

was bifurcated with one year of initial confinement and oneyear extended supervision.

In Case No. 15CF3082, which charged Barwick for stalking his ex-wife between February 26, 2013 and May 2, 2015 (Count 1), by violating a domestic abuse injunction by posting a Facebook message on August 31, 2014 that was retrieved by his ex-wife on May 2, 2015 (Counts 2) and by posting the same message while concealing his identity (Counts 3), Barwick was sentenced on Count 1 to six years imprisonment (three years initial confinement and three years extended supervision) consecutive to Counts 2 and 3, and any other sentence; on Count 2 to two years imprisonment concurrent to Count 3, but consecutive to any other sentence; on Count 3 to two years imprisonment concurrent to Count 2, but consecutive to any other sentence, and with one-year initial confinement and one year extended supervision on Counts 2 and 3.

In Case No. 15CF4127, which charged three counts of bail jumping for sending emails to an acquaintance on June 28, July 4, and July 6, 2015, Barwick was sentenced on Count 1 to two years imprisonment concurrent to Counts 2 and 3, but consecutive to any other sentence; on Count 2 to two years imprisonment concurrent to Counts 1 and 3, but consecutive to any other sentence; and on Count 3 to two years imprisonment concurrent to Counts 1 and 2, but consecutive to any other sentence. The sentence on each count was bifurcated with one year of initial confinement and one-year extended supervision.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The above sentences were based on jury verdicts in the four separate cases in which criminal complaints alleged that:

- Barwick used his computer to send an obscene, lewd, or profane Yahoo account email to a guardian ad litem in a pending child custody dispute with his then-wife; to send two Google account emails, after a domestic abuse injunction had issued against him in 2013, from the computer's IP address "75.9.162.21" that was tied both to his Yahoo account and his Google account, with an intent to harass his ex-wife; and to post an harassing Facebook message to his ex-wife that was also tied to the IP address "75.9.162.21;" and
- Barwick stalked and harassed his ex-wife in 2013 voicemails, in the 2014 email messages, and in the 2014 Facebook message that she had not read until May 2015; and that he sent three emails from IP address "75.9.162.21" to an acquaintance, during a time when his appearance bond case prohibited his use of a computer.

### Pretrial matters

Pretrial issues relevant to this appeal concerned terms in his appearance bond, the joinder of the four cases for trial and motions to sever and *in limine* to exclude evidence of other acts attributed to Barwick in the four cases, the admission of evidence of personal items related to Barwick's unconventional sexual behaviors, the seizure of the items from his living quarters at his parent's home, and the court's restrictions on Barwick's proposed testimony about the origins of the emails and messages. The facts relating to those

pretrial issues are set out in the argument sections that discuss those issues.

## Trial Facts<sup>2</sup>

In February 2013 Barwick's ex-wife reported to police that she had received some voicemail messages (Exhibit 1) that she considered threatening and that frightened her. (R. 43, pp. 154-162). Based on those messages she went to court and obtained a domestic abuse injunction (Exhibit 3) against Barwick on March 12, 2013 (R. 43, pp. 163-64).

Following a Family Court Commissioner child custody/placement hearing on October 2, 2014, she reported to police that she had received two email messages (Exhibit 4 and 5) that she considered threatening (R.43, pp. 170, 173, 175). The messages indicated that the sender had a Google email address of "longerone69@gmail.com," which she did not recognize, but she believed the sender was Barwick. The first e-mail was sent the same day as her court hearing regarding placement of her children. A police warrant in Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case No. 14SW2367 (which was attached to Barwick's post-conviction motion) directed to Google, Inc., produced data (Exhibits 14 and 15) showing that email address "longerone69@gmail.com" was tied to IP address "75.9.162.21." (R. 44, pp. 19).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Trial transcript references to the trial facts will refer to the record as compiled for Case No. 15CF4127, which is Appeal No. 2017AP000691) unless otherwise indicated. The transcript of trial proceedings on March 1, 2016 is denoted as "R. 45", while the proceedings the following day, March 2, are denoted as "R. 46." These same transcripts are given different record numbers in the other three appeals.

That same month police learned that the Barwick had D. , the guardian ad litem in sent emails to Attorney K. the defendant's child custody case. D. provided the police with five emails (Exhibits 7-11). He believed Barwick sent the emails because the sender reference was an email account, "brian\_barwick@yahoo.com" (R.43, p. 188). The fifth email (Exhibit 11) formed the basis for the charge in 14CM004275 for sending an obscene or profane computer message (R. 43, p. 197). Police obtained a warrant (Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case No. 15SW2228) to obtain records from Yahoo, Inc. related to email account, "brian\_barwick@yahoo.com." The Yahoo response to the warrant (Exhibits 12 and 13) tied the email address to IP address "75.9.162.21." (R. 44, pp. 17-18).

In April 2015 a complaint alleging domestic abuse injunction violations and other charges was filed in Case No. 2015CF1521 (Exhibit 16) (R. 44, p. 22). The transcript of the initial appearance (Exhibit 18) indicated that a "condition of the defendant's release" was "no use of any computers." (R. 44, 24-25). At a May 21, 2015 court appearance in the same case, the transcript of the proceeding showed that the court told Barwick "no use of computer." (R. 44, p.25-26).

In May 2015 R. A. B. sent the police a screen shot of a Facebook message (Exhibit 6) that she testified so sickened her (R. 43, p. 180) that she could not sleep (R. 43, p. 181). R. A. B. indicated that the message was dated August 31, 2014, but that she hadn't opened the message until May 2, 2015, because she did not recognize the sender's name when she initially received it. R. A. B. indicated that she believed the message was from the defendant. Police obtained a warrant directed to Facebook, Inc., and the response from

Facebook (Exhibit 19) linked the Facebook user to the defendant's IP address "75.9.162.21" (R. 44, p. 28). Police also discovered a message from the same Facebook account that was sent to R. A. B.'s father, that the police considered to be threatening. (R. 44, p. 29).

In June 2015 a woman who explained that she had had contact with the Barwick through an online dating site, provided police with an AOL e-mail account that Barwick had used to contact her. Police obtained a warrant directed to Inc. AOL. (Exhibit 20) regarding email address "zapp1965@aol.com" and the AOL response indicated that IP address for that account was "75.9.162.21." (R. 43, pp. 30-A search warrant was executed at the defendant's residence where officers discovered numerous pairs of women's underwear, which appeared to be worn and soiled with bodily fluids. (R. 44, p. 45-49). The officers seized the defendant's desktop computer and determined that numerous emails originated from the computer at the residence with an IP address "75.9.162.21." Many of the e-mails were sexual in nature and involved Barwick inquiring about purchasing used female panties pubic hair." (R. 44, pp. 39-41).

Brian Barwick testified that while he had sent four 's handling of the emails to D. to complain about D. October 2, 2014 child custody/placement hearing, he did not send, as related to Case No. 14CM4275, the email (Exhibit 11) that was alleged to be obscene or profane. (R. 52, pp. 87-89). He also testified that he had not sent, as related to Case No. 15CF1521, emails to his ex-wife (Exhibits 4 and 5) connected the Google email account "longerone69@gmail.com" (R. 70, p. 90). He also denied sending the August 31, 2014 Facebook message (Exhibit 6), as related to Case No. 15CF3082 (R. 70, p. 92). As related to Case No. 15CF4127, he stated that he last accessed the

internet on February 5, 2015 because the court had prohibited from computer/Internet use.

Barwick was cross-examined about his angry tone and off-color language in the voicemail messages that he did admit he left for his ex-wife (R. 70, pp. 94-97), and items that were seized from his bedroom, specifically a letter (Exhibit 30) and a photograph (Exhibit 29) pertaining to women's panties, and pubic hair samples (Exhibit 34). (R. 70, 97-100). Although he denied sending an AOL email that described those types of items (Exhibit 25) and that were attributed to "zapp1965@aol.com," he acknowledged that the email contents did describe items that were found in his bedroom. (R. 70, p. 100).

### **Post-Conviction Matters**

The search warrants and returns directed to Yahoo, Inc. (R. 31, pp. 25-37 in Case No. 14CM4275), Google, Inc. (R. 31, pp. 38-50), AOL, Inc. (R. 31, pp. 51-59); and Facebook, Inc. (R. 31, pp. 60—66), and the search warrant and return for Barwick's living quarters (R. 31, pp 67-74) were appended to his motion for post-conviction relief (R. 31). The motion asserted that probable cause was not shown to support the warrants or the averments relating to the Wisconsin circuit court having jurisdiction to command that the warrants be executed in other states. The circuit denied the post-conviction motion on those grounds relying on its pretrial rulings for the house warrant (A. App. 105). The court also ruled, without explication, that the affidavits supporting the internet service providers warrants were "sufficient" and the jurisdictional fact challenges were "rejected." (A. App. 106-107).

Brian Barwick also submitted a 4-page affidavit to support his post-conviction motions (R. 31 in Case No.

14CM4275; R. 51 in Case No. 15CF1521, pp. 8-11; R. 36 in Case No. 2015CF3082, and R. 30 in Case No. 15CF4127), particularly to support the pretrial severance motions and ineffective assistance of counsel issue asserted in the postconviction motion. Barwick averred that had he known, he would have chosen not to testify (which his trial counsel had not discussed with him), relying on his privilege against selfincrimination, about the email to Attorney D. (Case No. 14CM4275) and the emails to an acquaintance after the prohibition against computer use was ordered (Case No. 15CF4127). He also asserted that his trial counsel did not discuss with him that his assertion of the privilege in those two cases could have served as grounds to seek severance of those cases from the trial of the other two cases. In that circumstance, he averred, he would have reconsidered his decision to testify as to the charges in Case Nos. 14CM4275 and 15CF4127.

The circuit court rejected Barwick's contention that his affidavit's averments added new substance to the severance issues. As to Case No. 14CM4275, the court reasoned, "a decision to remain silent to the charge . . . would not have been a viable strategy because the jury [still] would [have] heard uncontroverted evidence about . . . sending harassing emails to his ex-wife contemporaneous with the child placement hearing and contemporaneous with the emails sent to Attorney D. . . . ." (A. App. 105). As to Case No. 15CF4127, the court reasoned, "remaining silent at a separate trial in 15CF4157 [still] would not have been a viable defense strategy because the jury would have heard uncontroverted evidence from the State's presentation of other acts evidence in 15CF1521."

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. Because There Was No Evidence in Case No. 14CM4275 That Brian Barwick Used Obscenity or Profanity in a Yahoo Email to K. D. , His Conviction Was Invalid.
  - A. The "obscene" language option in Wis. Stat. §947.0125(2)(c) could not have been the basis for Barwick's conviction.

The criminal complaint (R. 2) and amended complaint (R. 22) in Case No. 14CM4275 did not charge Barwick with s single mode of committing the offense. The complaints alleged three options under §947.0125(2)(c) that the email was (1) obscene, (2) lewd, or (3) profane. Apparently uncertain about which kind of language matched the alleged facts, the prosecution charged Barwick in a single count with using all three kinds of language. The exact words in the email are found at A. App. 138 and the email was admitted into evidence as Exhibit 11 (R. 43, p. 197).

The prosecution's uncertainty, however, was not reflected in the complaints' fact allegations. Police Officer James Fohr, the lead investigator in Barwick's cases, deemed the emails to Attorney D. to be "profane." (R. 2, p. 1; R. 22, p. 1).

When the trial commenced, however, the trial court gave an opening jury instruction that echoed the prosecutor's uncertainty. The jury was told that an element of the offense of unlawful use of a computerized communication system involved any message using any one of the three kinds of language. (R. 51, pp. 116, 125-26). At the conclusion of the evidence, the court repeated the three kinds of language in its opening instructions (R. 53; pp. 7-8). The prosecution then argued (very briefly) in its closing remarks that the language was obscene, and lewd, and profane (R. 53, p. 51, lines 2-3).

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