RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 02-07-2018

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2017AP958-CR, 2017AP959-CR, 2017AP960-CR, 2017AP961-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRIAN A. BARWICK,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND ORDERS DENYING POSTCONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHELLE ACKERMAN HAVAS, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009170 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Moreover, Barwick's argument is not directed at the warrant affidavit on its face but on his contention that the affidavit misstates or omits facts that would defeat probable cause. A defendant may challenge a search warrant on that basis under *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978), and *State v. Mann*, 123 Wis. 2d 375, 367 N.W.2d 209 (1985). *See State v. Gordon*, 159 Wis. 2d 335, 351, 464 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1990). Barwick alleged in his postconviction motion that the search warrant was invalid under *Franks* (R. 32:6), but he does not make that argument on appeal (Barwick's Br. 43–44). *See A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998) ("an issue raised in the trial court, but not raised on appeal, is deemed abandoned").

Jurisdiction to issue all four warrants. Barwick argues that all four search warrants were defective because the warrant affidavits failed to include the "jurisdictional facts that are required by Wis. Stat. 968.375(1)." (Barwick's Br. 33.) He identifies two purported defects in the warrant

affidavits, though he again provides no record citations. (*Id.* at 33–34.) In any event, both of Barwick's arguments are based on an erroneous reading of the statute, which provides:

(1) JURISDICTION. For purposes of this section, a person is considered to be doing business in this state and is subject to service and execution of process from this state, if the person makes a contract with or engages in a terms of service agreement with any other person, whether or not the other person is a resident of this state, and any part of the performance of the contract or provision of service takes place within this state on any occasion.

Wis. Stat. § 968.375(1).

The first purported defect identified by Barwick is that "there were no facts alleged the IP address providers and Facebook had a 'contract with' Barwick or that they 'engage[d] in a terms of service agreement with' Barwick sufficient to confer a Wisconsin court's jurisdiction over them." (Barwick's Br. 33.) But the statute does not require that Yahoo, Google, Facebook, or AOL have a contract with or terms of service agreement with Barwick. It requires only that any of those corporate "persons" "makes a contract with or engages in a terms of service agreement with any other person, whether or not the other person is a resident of this state." Wis. Stat. § 968.375(1) (emphasis added).

Each of the warrant affidavits alleges that emails or messages were sent using accounts with those entities. (17AP958, R. 32:23 (emails sent from "brian_barwick@yahoo.com" account); 32:37 (emails sent from "longerone69in@gmail.com" account); 32:49 (emails sent from "Zapp1965@AOL.com" account); 32;55 (messages sent to R.B.'s Facebook account). The judges who issued those warrants reasonably could infer, based on the ubiquitous requirement that users of online accounts agree to a terms-

of-service agreement, that Yahoo, Google, Facebook, and AOL "engage[] in a terms of service agreement with any other person." *See Multaler*, 252 Wis. 2d 54, ¶ 8 (a judge issuing a search warrant makes a "practical, common-sense" determination based on "all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit" and "reasonable inferences from the evidence presented in the affidavit").

The second purported defect is that "the prosecution failed to submit proof that 'any part of the performance of the contract or provision of service takes place within this state on any occasion." (Barwick's Br. 33.) Barwick contends that this requirement was not fulfilled because "[t]here was no assertion that Barwick [sic] emails were generated from Wisconsin or that emails were received while he was in Wisconsin which is required under Wis. Stat. 968.375(1)." (Barwick's Br. 33–34.)

But the statute does not require that Barwick be present in Wisconsin. It requires only that "any part of the . . . provision of service takes place within this state on any occasion." Wis. Stat. § 968.375(1). One part of the provision of email or other messaging services is the delivery of emails and messages. The Yahoo, Google, and Facebook affidavits

⁵ Barwick cites several federal court decisions that have held that "18 U.S.C. § 2703(a) authorizes a federal district court, located in the district where the alleged crime occurred, to issue search warrants for the production of electronically-stored evidence located in another district." *In re Search of Yahoo, Inc.*, 2007 WL 1539971, at *7 (D. Ariz. May 21, 2007) *see also United States v. Barber*, 184 F. Supp. 3d 1013, 1017–18 (D. Kan. 2016), *In re Search Warrant*, 2005 WL 3844032, at *5 (M.D. Fla. Feb. 13, 2006). Barwick does not explain why decisions interpreting the scope of a federal district court's warrant-issuing authority under a federal statute is relevant to whether a Wisconsin court has the authority under Wis. Stat. § 968.375 to issue a search warrant to providers of electronic communication services.

state that the emails and messages were received by K.D. and R.B. at their Wisconsin addresses. (17AP958, R. 32:23, 37, 55.) And the AOL warrant affidavit includes assertions establishing that Barwick was in Wisconsin around the time in question, including allegations that he was arrested at his Oconomowoc residence on July 11, 2015. (17AP958, R. 32:50–51.) The warrant affidavits established probable cause, therefore, that some part of the provision of the service took place in Wisconsin.

B. Barwick has not demonstrated that he was prejudiced by the failure to file a suppression motion.

Barwick makes only a perfunctory argument with respect to prejudice. He states that the evidence generated by the warrants was used to prove "that Barwick was the person sending the emails" and that "[h]ad it been excluded, the State could not have tied Barwick to the offending messages evidence beyond a reasonable doubt." (Barwick's Br. 34.) This Court should reject that argument because it is undeveloped and lacks any citations to the record. *See Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d at 646; *Lass*, 194 Wis. 2d at 604–05.

Because Barwick fails to present a developed argument, the State will simply note that the trial record contains the following evidence from which the jury could readily have found that Barwick sent the emails in question without the evidence obtained through the AOL, Yahoo, Google, and Facebook search warrants.

AOL. The emails that were alleged to be a violation of Barwick's bail condition that he not use a computer were sent from the email address "zapp1965@aol.com." (R. 48:34–37.) Barwick testified that that was his email address. (R. 48:93.) R.B. also testified that was his email address. (R. 47:174–75.) She testified that "Zapp" was a nickname

that Barwick used in college and that he was born in 1965. (R. 47:175.)

Yahoo. The emails sent to Attorney K.D. were from "brian_barwick@yahoo.com." (R. 47:188–96.) Both Barwick and R.B. testified that that was one of his email addresses. (R. 47:174–75; 48:93.)

Google. With respect to the emails from "Jack Walden" at the email address "longerone69in@gmail.com," R.B. testified that she and Barwick had attended a family court child placement hearing at 8:30 a.m. on October 2, 2014, that she received an email from that sender at 10:24 a.m. the same day. (R. 47:169–71.) R.B. testified that she did not recognize the email address or know anyone named Jack Walden but that she believed that it came from Barwick because it referred to her mother and to the court proceedings that morning. (R. 47:172.)

Facebook. With respect to the Facebook messages, which showed "Jack Walden" as the sender, R.B. testified that she believed that Barwick was the sender based on their content. (R. 47:176–77.). R.B. testified that the messages referred by name to her best friend and correctly identified the name of her home security company. (R. 47:180.) The messages also said that her boys belong to Brian B., that "he has been killed by u," and that "w2eeeee wlll git you." (R. 47:179.)

Barwick has failed to carry his burden of demonstrating that he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to move to suppress the AOL, Yahoo, Google, and Facebook search warrants. This Court should conclude, therefore, that his lawyer was not ineffective.

V. The police properly seized non-computer-related items from Barwick's home.

Barwick argues that the circuit court erred when it denied his motion to suppress non-computer-related items—women's underwear that appeared to have been worn and pubic hair clippings—seized during a search of his residence. (Barwick's Br. 33–37.) Barwick argues that the search warrant was invalid because the affidavit failed to allege probable cause that he had committed bail jumping. (*Id.* at 36.) The State addressed that argument above. *See supra*, pp. 17–19.

Barwick also argues that the officers who executed the search warrant improperly exceeded its scope because the warrant only authorized a search for computer-related items. The circuit court rejected that argument, holding that the seizure was permissible under *State v. LaCount*, 2008 WI 59, 310 Wis. 2d 85, 750 N.W.2d 780, and *State v. Casarez*, 2008 WI App 166, 314 Wis. 2d 661, 762 N.W.2d 385, because the evidence "was discovered within the area properly designated within the warrant," "was discovered during that same search," and there was "a connection between the evidence and the criminal activity which goes to the bail jumping" charge. (R. 46:18–19.)6

Barwick's brief does not discuss the circuit court's rationale at all. "Failure to address the grounds on which the circuit court ruled constitutes a concession of the ruling's

⁶ In some of the emails sent by "zapp1965@aol.com" that formed the basis of the bail jumping charges for violating the "no computer use" condition of release, Barwick asked the recipient about purchasing used female panties and "pussy hair trimmings." (R.1:3; 48:39–41.) That Barwick had those items in his residence was evidence that he was the person who sent those emails.

validity." West Capitol, Inc. v. Village of Sister Bay, 2014 WI App 52, ¶ 49, 354 Wis. 2d 130, 848 N.W.2d 875. On that basis, this Court should affirm the circuit court's ruling.

Even if the circuit court erred by not suppressing the evidence, the error was harmless. An error is harmless "if it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." *State v. Hunt*, 2014 WI 102, ¶ 26, 360 Wis. 2d 576, 851 N.W.2d 434 (citation omitted).

Barwick contends that the evidence was prejudicial because it was "used as proof that the identity of the person sending the email was the defendant." (Barwick's Br. 36.) But even without that evidence, there was other evidence that Barwick was the person who sent the emails from "zapp1965@aol.com," including Barwick's own testimony and that of R.B. that zapp1965@aol.com was his email address. (R. 47:174–75; 48:93.)

Barwick also argues that the evidence was prejudicial "because it was likely to shock, inflame and bias the jury against the defendant out a [sic] sense of revulsion at what the prosecution asserted were his unconventional, idiosyncratic sexual interests." (Barwick's Br. 36–37.) Barwick presumably is arguing that the evidence should have been excluded under Wis. Stat. § 904.03.

The circuit court, noting that there was other evidence that "could be just as distasteful" as the underwear and hair, ruled that the probative value of the evidence outweighed the prejudicial effect. (R. 45:9, A-App. 116.) The circuit court said that the evidence, "[w]hile prejudicial," was "not unduly so" and that the evidence would "be handled in the most discreet way as possible." (R. 48:6.) This Court should affirm that ruling because Barwick fails to present a developed

argument as to why the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion.

VI. The circuit court did not deny Barwick his right to present a defense when it precluded him from offering speculative testimony that another party sent the emails.

Barwick challenges the circuit court's pretrial rulings prohibiting him from testifying that: "(1) the emails at issue could have been generated from outside sources (e.g., 'spoofing') and other than the internet protocol addresses which were attributed as the sources, (2) Barwick had observed activity on his computer screen during times relevant to the charges against him that appeared to be generated from outside sources (e.g., 'hacking'), and (3) Barwick had lost a folder containing computer access identifiers and passwords that could have been the means of access to his computers by third parties." (Barwick's Br. 37.) Barwick contends that the exclusion of that evidence violated his constitutional right to present a defense. (*Id.* at 37–39.)

At a hearing on the State's motion in limine to exclude that evidence, defense counsel told the court that Barwick would testify that on October 2, 2014, he had logged out of his computer and, when he came back to the computer, the computer was logged back in and he saw the cursor moving independently of him operating the mouse. (R. 45:38–39, A-App. 119–20.) The State responded that the court had allowed Barwick to have his own computer forensically analyzed to address this issue. (R. 45:41.) The prosecutor said that he had not received any reports or an expert witness list on this topic and there was no evidence to support Barwick's allegation that someone else was on his computer. (*Id.*) Allowing Barwick's testimony, he argued, would invite the jury to speculate. (*Id.*)

Defense counsel replied that the hard drive that was analyzed was not the same hard drive that had been on Barwick's computer when Barwick observed the activity on that computer. (R. 45:41–43, A-App. 121–22.) The hard drive that Barwick was using then, counsel said, "was removed and subsequently destroyed." (R. 45:42.)

The court said that there was "no indicia of reliability that has any link here," observing that, "[n]ow on the eve of trial there's: Oh, there was another hard drive that was removed." (R. 45:42, A-App. 121.) The court excluded the testimony because "[t]his is exactly what [its] ruling on [the] State's supplemental motion in limine . . . sought to preclude" and that the proffered evidence would "invite the jury to speculate that in fact someone else was mysteriously on my computer." (*Id*.)

Defense counsel then told the court that Barwick also wanted to testify "that there was a past incident that occurred to him wherein essentially e-mails of a, I guess I'll just say inappropriate nature, had been being sent to people as though Mr. Barwick was sending them, and that was something that occurred . . . on a separate hard drive that Mr. Barwick was using but then is not around anymore" because it had been destroyed. (R. 45:42–43, A-App. 121–22.) Counsel also told the court that Barwick wanted to testify that he had a file folder (a physical file, not a computer file folder) that contained password information and personal identifying information and that when Barwick moved out of the family home in 2012, that file folder disappeared. (R. 45:43, A-App. 122.) Counsel said that Barwick hadn't identified a specific individual who may have taken the file, but that he wanted to testify that "when he moved out, it . . . disappeared." (Id.)

The court ruled that "[n]one of this evidence is going to be coming in and I say 'evidence' as a way of talking in generalities, not that this actually is evidence." (R. 45:45, A-App. 123.) The court said that the fact that "someone may at some point in life had sent inappropriate e-mails that had Mr. Barwick's name on them" was not relevant and that the proffered evidence "invites speculation." (R. 45:45–46, A-App. 123–24.) The court said that the missing file folder was "a red herring," that it was not relevant and that "[i]t's simply inviting the jury to speculate that there might be something else out there containing his date of birth and his Social Security number." (*Id*.)

On appeal, Barwick does not argue that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it excluded that evidence. (Barwick's Br. 37–39.) Instead, he limits his argument to a claim that the circuit court's ruling denied him his constitutional right to present evidence. (*Id.*) However, Barwick's trial counsel did not argue that Barwick had a constitutional right to present that evidence. (R. 45:38–45.) Accordingly, Barwick failed to preserve his constitutional claim for appellate review. *See State v. Gove*, 148 Wis. 2d 936, 943, 437 N.W.2d 218 (1989) (defendant waived confrontation claim when his objection was based only on hearsay grounds).

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